Published for SISSA by O Springer

RECEIVED: November 1, 2022 ACCEPTED: January 5, 2023 PUBLISHED: January 25, 2023

Radiation-reaction in the Effective Field Theory approach to Post-Minkowskian dynamics

Gregor Kälin,^a Jakob Neef^{b,c} and Rafael A. Porto^a

^a Deutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY, Notkestr. 85, 22607 Hamburg, Germany
^b School of Mathematics and Statistics, University College Dublin, Belfield, Dublin 4, Ireland, D04 V1W8

^cHumboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Zum Grossen Windkanal 2, D-12489 Berlin, Germany E-mail: gregor.kaelin@desy.de, jakob.neef@physik.hu-berlin.de, rafael.porto@desy.de

ABSTRACT: We extend the Post-Minkowskian (PM) effective field theory (EFT) approach to incorporate conservative and dissipative radiation-reaction effects in a unified framework. This is achieved by implementing the Schwinger-Keldysh "in-in" formalism and separating conservative and non-conservative terms according to the formulation in [1], which we show promotes Feynman's *i*0-prescription and *cutting* rules to a prominent role at the classical level. The resulting integrals, involving both Feynman and retarded propagators, can be bootstrapped to all orders in the velocity via differential equations with boundary conditions including potential and radiation modes. As a paradigmatic example we provide an *ab initio* derivation of the classical solution to the scattering problem in general relativity to $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$. For the sake of completeness, we also reproduce the leading order radiation-reaction effects in classical electrodynamics.

KEYWORDS: Classical Theories of Gravity, Effective Field Theories, Scattering Amplitudes

ARXIV EPRINT: 2207.00580





Contents

| 1 | Introduction | 1 |
|---|---|----|
| 2 | Schwinger-Keldysh worldline theory | 3 |
| | 2.1 Basic formalism | 3 |
| | 2.2 Feynman rules for the <i>in-integrand</i> | 5 |
| | 2.3 Conservative vs dissipative | 7 |
| 3 | Scattering to 3PM | 9 |
| | 3.1 Building the integrand | 9 |
| | 3.2 Integration problem | 10 |
| | 3.3 Boundary integrals | 12 |
| | 3.3.1 Conservative | 12 |
| | 3.3.2 Dissipative | 13 |
| 4 | Discussion & outlook | 16 |
| A | Green's functions | 19 |
| в | Classical electrodynamics | 19 |

1 Introduction

The successes of current gravitational wave (GW) detectors [2], together with the expected reach of future observatories [3–9], has reinvigorated various efforts to tackle the perturbative regime of the two-body dynamics in gravity stemming off of "traditional"[10–12] as well as those inspired by effective field theory (EFT) techniques [13–17]. In a concerted effort with various other theoretical frameworks, e.g. [18–32], EFT-based approaches — both in the Post-Newtonian (PN) [33–70] and Post-Minkowskian (PM) regimes [71–87]—in parallel with amplitudes-based methodologies, e.g. [88–116], have led to major breakthroughs in our understanding of the (classical) relativistic problem in general relativity. However, albeit with some notable exceptions, e.g. [49, 50, 68–70, 87], the vast majority of the EFT-rooted results have occurred in the conservative sector of PN/PM theory, culminating in the recent derivation of the state-of-the-art knowledge for potential [54, 55, 61, 78, 109] and radiation-reaction tail effects [56, 57, 62, 79, 110] to 5PN and 4PM order for non-spinning bodies, respectively. Following pioneering developments in the realm of PN expansions [1, 45–50], the purpose of this paper is to extend the EFT approach in order to incorporate conservative and dissipative effects in the PM regime within a unified framework.

In principle, radiative observables at infinity, such as the (source) radiated energy, can be computed by matching the stress-energy tensor using the trajectories in the conservative PM EFT [74] and subsequently squaring the (on-shell) one-point function [85–87]. Mimicking the simplifications also found in PN theory [41, 67–70], this piecewise derivation—one scale at a time—thus becomes simpler than constructing the full gravitational integrand, entailing (for instance for the case of instantaneous interaction) only a single "radiation graviton" coupled to potential exchanges. This is even more striking if we resort to an adiabatic approach within a PN multipole expansion [41, 42, 44]. In this case so-called moment relations (from Ward identities) allow us to trade non-linearities for derivatives of the multipoles that can then be computed using the conservative potential, e.g. [67–70]. Instead, for reasons that will become clear momentarily, in this paper we develop a formalism which allows us to simultaneously derive both conservative and dissipative effects.

One of the major bottlenecks in computations in the PM regime has been the existence of intricate families of relativistic integrals, e.g. [78, 79, 109, 110]. Remarkably, following key ideas in particle physics [117–145], a very powerful tool has emerged as a weapon-of-choice to tackle multi-loop relativistic integration, namely the use of differential equations [75, 113]. One of its main virtues is that only through their boundary values the solution may be sensitive to whether potential and/or radiation modes are considered, allowing us to tackle the entire (classical) *soft* region at once. This was exploited in amplitude-based approaches to compute the relativistic impulse at 3PM order [105, 112, 114]. In these methodologies one relies on taking the classical limit of a quantum amplitude, similarly to the derivations in [99, 100, 109, 110]. However, as we demonstrate here, we can bypass these manipulations and directly compute the classical total relativistic impulse within a worldline EFT approach.

The use of differential equations has been already implemented in the EFT approach to solve the conservative dynamics to 4PM order, first using only the potential region for the boundary conditions [75, 78] and later on incorporating radiation-reaction effects [79]. Yet, in all cases the standard "in-out" vaccum-to-vaccum amplitude was utilised, together with Feynman's prescription for the propagators, which captures conservative-only contributions. However, the existence of such a powerful machinery in the form of differential equations — encoding in principle both conservative and radiative contributions to the dynamics — begs us for a more general framework where all dynamical effects may be incorporated in unison: feeding two birds with one scone. Fortunately, the Schwinger-Keldysh "in-in" formalism [146–150] is tailor-made for this purpose. Contrary to in-out boundary conditions, the in-in approach systematically accounts for the correct causal propagation, while at the same time the prescription in [1] provides us with a natural separation between conservative and dissipative terms at the level of the effective action (already implemented in [48, 53] to obtain unambiguous results at 4PN). As we shall see, the procedure promotes Feynman's i0-prescription and cutting rules to a prominent role also at the classical level.

The full integrand including dissipative effects turns out to be a tad more involved than matching for the stress-energy tensor; however, as we show here it is practically equivalent to building the in-out counterpart. Hence, the difference between conservative and/or dissipative terms ultimately arises through the choice of propagators. Nevertheless, as we shall see, the type of Green's functions does have an impact in the application of standard integration tools, notably the use of 'symmetry relations', which is essentially the part of the computation which requires a careful treatment. Yet, bootstrapping the solution through differential equations yields powerful constraints, in particular in the radiation sector, which allow us to read off much of the final answer without the need to compute all of the boundary constants [79]. As a paradigmatic example we explicitly derive the full solution of the scattering problem to 3PM order, reproducing previous results in the literature [75, 85, 99, 105, 112, 114]. For completeness, we also reproduce the leading radiation-reaction effects in classical electrodynamics [151, 152]. The derivation of the hitherto unknown total relativistic impulse at 4PM order is discussed in [153].

Throughout this paper we use the following conventions: we use the mostly minus signature: $\eta_{\mu\nu} = \text{diag}(+, -, -, -)$. The Minkowski product between four-vectors is denoted as $k \cdot x = \eta_{\mu\nu}k^{\mu}x^{\nu}$, and we use $\mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x} = \delta^{ij}\mathbf{k}^i x^j$ for the Euclidean version, with bold letters representing **3**-vectors. We use the shorthand notation $\int_k \equiv \int d^D k / \pi^{D/2}$ and $\hat{\delta}^{(n)}(x) \equiv 2\pi \delta^{(n)}(x)$ for the *n*-th derivative of Dirac- δ functions. We handle divergent integrals through dimensional regularization (dim. reg.), with $D = 4 - 2\epsilon$. We define $M_{\rm Pl}^{-1} \equiv \sqrt{32\pi G}$ for the Planck mass in $\hbar = c = 1$ units. We denote $M = m_1 + m_2$ the total mass, $\mu = m_1 m_2 / M$ the reduced mass, $\nu \equiv \mu / M$ the symmetric mass ratio, and $\Delta_m \equiv (m_1 - m_2) / M = \sqrt{1 - 4\nu}$ for the (dimensionless) mass difference, with $m_1 \geq m_2$.

2 Schwinger-Keldysh worldline theory

The initial value formulation of non-conservative classical dynamics at the level of Hamilton's action principle was broadly discussed in [1], and more concretely in [45-50] in the context of the EFT formalism with multipole expanded PN sources introduced in [33]. In this section we adapt the same formalism to the worldline EFT approach in the PM regime and encourage the reader to consult [1, 45-50] for further details.

2.1 Basic formalism

The main idea is to compute the effective action imposing only vacuum boundary conditions for the gravitational field at initial time. This is achieved by performing a 'closed-time-path' integral over the field variables, e.g. [148, 149]. To this end it is convenient to introduce auxiliary fields, both for the metric and worldline sources. In our case at hand, the effective action for the two-body problem then takes the form (schematically)

$$\exp(i\mathcal{S}_{\text{eff}}[x_{a(1)}, x_{a(2)}]) = \int \mathcal{D}h_1 \mathcal{D}h_2 \exp(iS_{\text{EH}}[h_1] - iS_{\text{EH}}[h_2] + iS_{\text{pp}}[h_1, x_{a,1}] - iS_{\text{pp}}[h_2, x_{a,2}]),$$
(2.1)

with a doubling of degrees of freedom both for the gravitational field as well as the particles (a = 1, 2), with the latter treated as external sources. The Einstein-Hilbert action is given by,

$$S_{\rm EH} = -2M_{\rm Pl}^2 \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} R \,, \qquad (2.2)$$

while the point-particle action is of the Polyakov form [74]

$$S_{\rm pp} = -\sum_{a} \frac{m_a}{2} \int d\tau_a \left(v_a^2 + \frac{h_{\mu\nu}}{M_{\rm Pl}} v_a^{\mu} v_a^{\nu} \right) \,, \tag{2.3}$$

with $v^{\mu} \equiv dx^{\mu}/d\tau$ the four-velocity. A suitable gauge-fixing term must be added to (2.2) [74]. The path integral in (2.1) over the metric degrees of freedom is then computed via the saddle point approximation, without including (quantum) 'loops' of the gravitational field(s) [74].

In these variables the matrix of propagators for the $h_{1,2}$ gravitational perturbation(s) becomes, see appendix A,

$$G_{AB}(x-y) = i \begin{pmatrix} \Delta_{\rm F}(x-y) & -\Delta_{-}(x-y) \\ -\Delta_{+}(x-y) & \Delta_{\rm D}(x-y) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.4)$$

with $A, B \in \{1, 2\}$.

The equations of motion follow from $S_{\text{eff}}[x_{a(1)}, x_{a(2)}]$ via the standard Euler-Lagrange procedure, and subsequently identifying $x_{a,1}^{\alpha} \Leftrightarrow x_{a,2}^{\alpha}$.

An alternative representation, often used in the literature, is given by the following change of variables due to Keldysh [147]

and likewise to the external worldline sources,

In this basis the matrix of propagators takes the most familiar form dictated by causality,¹

$$K^{AB}(x-y) = i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\Delta_{\text{adv}}(x-y) \\ -\Delta_{\text{ret}}(x-y) & \frac{1}{2}\Delta_H(x-y) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.7)$$

relax where this time $A, B \in \{+, -\}$. The $\Delta_H(x) \equiv \Delta_+(x) + \Delta_-(x)$ is the Hadamard propagator, see appendix A, which does not feature in the classical regime and may be ignored in the saddle point approximation. In this basis the equations of motion follow from the condition,

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}[x_{a,+}, x_{a,-}]}{\delta x_{b,-}^{\mu}(\tau)} \bigg|_{\substack{x_{a,-} \to 0 \\ x_{a,+} \to x_{a}}} = 0.$$
(2.8)

It is straightforward to show that the effective action is given by the general form

$$S_{\text{eff}}[x_{a,+}, x_{a,-}] = \sum_{a} m_{a} \int d\tau_{a} \left(-\frac{1}{2} v_{a,1}^{2}(\tau_{a}) + \frac{1}{2} v_{a,2}^{2}(\tau_{a}) \right) + S_{\text{int}}[x_{a,1}, x_{a,2}]$$

$$= -\sum_{a} m_{a} \int d\tau_{a} v_{a,+} \cdot v_{a,-} + S_{\text{int}}[x_{a,+}, x_{a,-}], \qquad (2.9)$$

such that

$$m_b \frac{d}{d\tau} v_b^{\mu}(\tau) = -\eta^{\mu\nu} \frac{\delta S_{\text{int}}[x_{a,+}, x_{a,-}]}{\delta x_{b,-}^{\nu}(\tau)} \bigg|_{\substack{x_{a,-} \to 0 \\ x_{a,+} \to x_a}}, \qquad (2.10)$$

¹Notice the difference between upper and lower indices.

and the total impulse, e.g. for particle 1, becomes

$$\Delta p_1^{\mu} = m_1 \Delta v_1^{\mu} = m_1 \left(v_1^{\mu}(\infty) - v_1^{\mu}(-\infty) \right)$$
$$= m_1 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau_1 \frac{d}{d\tau_1} v_1^{\mu}(\tau_1) = -\eta^{\mu\nu} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau_1 \frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\mathrm{int}} \left[x_{a,+}, x_{a,-} \right]}{\delta x_{1,-}^{\nu}(\tau_1)} \bigg|_{\substack{x_{a,-} \to 0 \\ x_{a,+} \to x_a}} .$$
(2.11)

Our task now is to compute the interaction part of the effective action, $S_{int}[x_{a,+}, x_{a,-}]$, using the Feynman rules that descend from (2.1). Despite the doubling of degrees of freedom in the in-in effective theory, we shall demonstrate next that the construction of the full integrand turns out to be remarkably similar to the computation of the impulse using the standard in-out Feynman rules [75, 78, 79].

2.2 Feynman rules for the *in-integrand*

The quantity of interest, once the graviton fields have been integrated out, is the variation of the effective action which appears in the impulse (2.11). Rather than the effective action, it turns out to be more efficient in this case to construct Feynman rules directly for its variation, which features both in the equations of motion and total impulse. The reason is two-fold. First of all, the physical limit $x_{a-} \to 0$ can be explicitly taken, and moreover one can readily identify the similarities with the in-out integrand prior to performing the integration. For notational simplicity throughout this section we suppress sums over particle's (a = 1, 2) labels.

Let us start with the propagators. To construct the integrand it turns out to be convenient to use the Keldysh representation. Hence, since we will be dealing with the retarded (or advanced) Green's functions in (2.7), we will depict the graviton propagator as

$$\stackrel{p}{\xrightarrow{\rightarrow}} = i P_{\mu\nu;\alpha\beta} \Delta_{\rm ret}(p) , \qquad (2.12)$$

where the arrow on the momentum is associated with the standard momentum routing whereas the arrow on the wavy line indicates the direction of the *time flow*. The advanced propagator, therefore, may be represented by the same arrow on the momentum p but with the time flowing in the opposite direction.

Next we move onto the interacting part of the point-particle action, which reads

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{S}_{\rm pp}[x_{\pm}, h_{\pm}] &\to -\frac{m}{2M_{\rm Pl}} \int \mathrm{d}\tau \int_{k} \left\{ \frac{h_{\mu\nu}^{+}(k)}{2} \left[e^{i\,k\cdot\left(x_{+} + \frac{x_{-}}{2}\right)} \left(v_{+}^{\mu} + \frac{v_{-}^{\mu}}{2} \right) \left(v_{+}^{\nu} + \frac{v_{-}^{\nu}}{2} \right) \right. \\ &+ e^{i\,k\cdot\left(x_{+} - \frac{x_{-}}{2}\right)} \left(v_{+}^{\mu} - \frac{v_{-}^{\mu}}{2} \right) \left(v_{+}^{\nu} - \frac{v_{-}^{\nu}}{2} \right) \right] \\ &+ h_{\mu\nu}^{-}(k) \left[e^{i\,k\cdot\left(x_{+} + \frac{x_{-}}{2}\right)} \left(v_{+}^{\mu} + \frac{v_{-}^{\mu}}{2} \right) \left(v_{+}^{\nu} + \frac{v_{-}^{\nu}}{2} \right) \right] \\ &- e^{i\,k\cdot\left(x_{+} - \frac{x_{-}}{2}\right)} \left(v_{+}^{\mu} - \frac{v_{-}^{\mu}}{2} \right) \left(v_{+}^{\nu} - \frac{v_{-}^{\nu}}{2} \right) \right] \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.13)$$

In general, a Feynman diagram will have several insertions of the worldline coupling to the gravitational field(s). In the computation of the variation of the effective action, however, only one such insertion at a time will be hit by the derivative in (2.11). Therefore, we can distinguish two types of worldline vertices. The first is obtained when no variation is acting on it. In this case we can set the physical condition already at the level of the effective action such that we have, in Fourier space,

$$\mathcal{S}_{\rm pp}|_{\substack{x_- \to 0 \\ x_+ \to x}} = -\frac{m}{2M_{\rm Pl}} \int \mathrm{d}\tau \, h^+_{\mu\nu}(k) e^{i\,k\cdot x} v^\mu v^\nu \,, \tag{2.14}$$

which we represent as

$$\downarrow k \stackrel{\scriptstyle \searrow}{\checkmark} = -\frac{im}{2M_{\rm Pl}} \int \mathrm{d}\tau \, e^{i\,k\cdot x} v^{\mu} v^{\nu} \,, \qquad (2.15)$$

with the arrows defined according to (2.12). Notice that this Feynman rule resembles the standard in-out scenario, with the Feynman propagator replaced by a retarded one. For reasons that will become clear momentarily we will refer to these vertices as *sources*.

The remaining case, which occurs when the variation with respect to x_{-} hits the vertex, turns out to be surprisingly simple. The key is to notice,

$$\frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\rm PP}}{\delta x_{-}^{\alpha}(\sigma)} \Big|_{\substack{x_{-} \to 0 \\ x_{+} \to x}} = -\frac{m}{2M_{\rm Pl}} \int \mathrm{d}\tau \int_{k} h_{\mu\nu}^{-}(k) e^{ik \cdot x} \left[i \, k^{\alpha} v^{\mu} v^{\nu} \delta(\tau - \sigma) + (\eta^{\mu\alpha} v^{\nu} + \eta^{\nu\alpha} v^{\mu}) \delta'(\tau - \sigma) \right] \\
= -\frac{m}{2M_{\rm Pl}} \int \mathrm{d}\tau \int_{k} h_{\mu\nu}^{-}(k) e^{ik \cdot x} \delta(\tau - \sigma) \left[i \, k^{\alpha} v^{\mu} v^{\nu} - i \, k \cdot v \eta^{\mu\alpha} v^{\nu} - \eta^{\nu\alpha} \dot{v}^{\mu} \right],$$
(2.16)

which means only one type of time flow — opposite to the previous case — must be considered. The associated Feynman rule for this particular vertex becomes (evaluated at $x^{\alpha}(\sigma)$)

$$\downarrow k \stackrel{\otimes}{\swarrow} = -\frac{im}{2M_{\rm Pl}} e^{i k \cdot x} \left[i \, k^{\alpha} v^{\mu} v^{\nu} - i \, k \cdot v \, \eta^{\mu \alpha} v^{\nu} - \eta^{\mu \alpha} \dot{v}^{\nu} - i \, k \cdot v \, \eta^{\nu \alpha} v^{\mu} - \eta^{\nu \alpha} \dot{v}^{\mu} \right],$$

$$(2.17)$$

where the cross, which we will refer to as a *sink*, indicates this is the worldline vertex where the $\delta/\delta x^{\alpha}$ derivative of the action has been taken. This is the only rule which differs from the standard in-out treatment.

Adding to the mix the bulk-type interactions written in the Keldysh representation, it is straightforward now to construct the in-in integrand. In particular, it is clear that any graviton vertex that leads to more than one sink can be neglected. Hence, only non-linear couplings with sources attached to a single sink linked to e.g. particle 1, for instance

must be considered to compute the total Δp^{α} . This is also consistent with having a *causal* time ordering attached to each diagram, as expected. At the end of the day, this follows directly from the fact that we are solving classical field equations with iterated retarded Green's functions. Notice that, as long as loops of the gravitational field are neglected, this also precludes the appearance of the Hadamard propagator.

Let us conclude this part with a few useful remarks. First of all, because of the property we just discussed about sinks and sources and the fact that only tree-level diagrams of the gravitational field(s) are needed in the classical theory, we notice that non-linear terms involving more than one h^+ in the in-in expansion of the Einstein-Hilbert cannot contribute to the path integral in (2.1). This is obviously the case for even number of h^+ 's (including zero) which identically vanish, and is also the case for odd terms greater than one simply because there is no K^{++} component in (2.7). This is a direct consequence of our in-in Feynman rules yielding a natural causal flow for each (classical) diagram.² Likewise, following our conventions in (2.5) and taking into account the relative minus sign in (2.1), it is also easy to show that the coefficient for the *n*th order term (schematically) $h^{+}[h^{-}]^{n-1}$ in the bulk action would become identical to the standard in-out counterpart, provided we ignore the \pm labels. The only apparent difference at the level of the Feynman rules are symmetry factors. The h^+ and h^- are indistinguishable in the in-out approach, whereas these are two separate fields in the in-in framework. This means that, at the level of the in-out and in-in effective actions, we do not expect to arrive to the same result between the two by simply replacing propagators. However, at the level of the equations of motion, it is clear that we must also consider diagrams with sinks at all instances where e.g. particle 1 appears. Moreover, since in the classical theory we only include tree-level connected Feynman diagrams, it is straightforward to show that the additional Wick contractions over the metric field in the in-out computation of the impulse are compensated by the sum over sinks in the in-in formalism.³

From here we conclude that upon replacing $\Delta_{\text{ret}} \rightarrow \Delta_F$ in the in-in integrand for the impulse we would directly recover the value computed with in-out boundary conditions. The converse is also manifestly true. After taking into account the time ordering consistently with the in-in rules, the integrand for the impulse may be equally computed directly from the in-out approach by replacing Feynman with retarded propagators consistently with a causal ordering. Another relevant comment has to do with the expression for the vertex in (2.17). Since the last four terms appear due to time derivatives in the Euler-Lagrange equations, they only matter for the equations of motion but vanish in the total impulse.

2.3 Conservative vs dissipative

In principle the interaction part of the effective theory, $S_{int}[x_{a,1}, x_{a,2}]$, includes both dissipative and conservative terms alike. It is clear, however, that any term in the effective action

 $^{^{2}}$ Notice this is no longer the case in the quantum theory once loops of the gravitational field(s) are allowed.

³This is also manifest at the level of PN computations of the effective action in terms of multipole moments, where different overall factors appear in the in-in and in-out approach but both coincide after the variations of the respective actions are considered, see e.g. [48].

which does not mix between the 1 and 2 variables, e.g. of the form

$$S_{\text{int}}[x_{a,1}, x_{a,2}] \supset \int d\tau_a \left(V_1[x_{a,1}] - V_2[x_{a,2}] \right) , \qquad (2.19)$$

can be combined with the kinetic part yielding

$$\mathcal{S}_{\text{eff}}[x_{a,1}, x_{a,2}] = \sum_{a} m_a \int d\tau_a \left(L_{\text{cons}}[x_{a,1}] - L_{\text{cons}}[x_{a,2}] \right) + \mathcal{S}_{\text{diss}}[x_{a,1}, x_{a,2}], \qquad (2.20)$$

with (up to terms that vanish in the limit $x_{a,-} \to 0$)

$$L_{\rm cons}[x_a] \equiv -\left(\sum_a \frac{m_a}{2}v_a^2 - \frac{V_1[x_a] + V_2[x_a]}{2}\right), \qquad (2.21)$$

such that the physics described by this Lagrangian — which can be equally described by a conserved Hamiltonian — naturally falls into the conservative sector. See [1] for a more detailed discussion.

Notice we do not make any assumption regarding the origin of $V_a[x_a]$, which in principle can (and will) receive contributions from both off-shell potential as well as on-shell radiation modes. Needless to say, if the Green's functions are expanded in the potential region around quasi-instantaneous interactions [33], the difference between Feynman, retarded (or advanced) propagators becomes obsolete. In such case the effective action becomes entirely of the form in (2.19), as expected. However, that is not the full story. In fact, radiation-reaction tail terms are known to contribute to the conservative sector through a term of the form in (2.19) [48].

The obvious follow up question then becomes whether one can identify these pieces in advance. As we show next, that is indeed the case for most — although not necessarily all — of conservative terms.

Let us take the matrix in (2.4) and split it as

$$G_{AB} = G_{AB}^{\rm F} + G_{AB}^{\rm cut} , \qquad (2.22)$$

with

$$G_{AB}^{\rm F} = i \begin{pmatrix} \Delta_{\rm F}(x-y) & 0\\ 0 & \Delta_{\rm D}(x-y) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad G_{AB}^{\rm cut} = i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\Delta_{-}(x-y)\\ -\Delta_{+}(x-y) & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.23)

Given that $G_{AB}^{\rm F}$ is diagonal, its contribution to both the $\mathcal{D}h_1$ and $\mathcal{D}h_2$ integrals in (2.1) can be computed independently of each other using the standard in-out rules. Moreover, since they come with opposite signs, it is straightforward to show that at the end of the day the contribution from $G_{AB}^{\rm F}$ to the effective action takes the form

$$S_{\text{eff}}[x_{a,1}, x_{a,2}] \supset \int d\tau_a \left(V_{\text{F}}[x_{a,1}] - V_{\text{D}}[x_{a,2}] \right) ,$$
 (2.24)

where we have $V_{\rm D}[x] = V_{\rm F}^{\star}[x]$ (which follows from the properties of the Feynman and Dyson propagators, see appendix A). Hence, according to (2.21), the in-in effective action contains a conservative piece given by

$$L_{\rm cons}[x_a] \supset \frac{1}{2} \int \mathrm{d}\tau_a \, \left(V_F[x_a] + V_D[x_a] \right) = \mathbb{R} \int \mathrm{d}\tau_a \, V_F[x_a] \,. \tag{2.25}$$

These manipulations then explicitly demonstrate that using the standard in-out Feynman rules with Feynman's *i*0-prescription and keeping only the real part of the resulting effective action produces a contribution to the dynamical equations which can be always included as part of a conservative sector. Notably, following our previous reasoning, we can also obtain this conservative contribution directly from the \pm -basis by replacing $\Delta_{\text{ret}} \rightarrow \Delta_F$ in the integrand for the impulse, thus landing in the in-out result as we demonstrated before.

There are, of course, also dissipative effects. These are obtained by at least one insertion of G^{cut} in (2.1), which mixes the $x_{a,1}$ and $x_{a,2}$ variables. At the level of the ±-basis, these terms appear from the mismatch between retarded/advanced and Feynman Green's functions, and therefore can be entirely written in terms of Δ_{\pm} propagators. They are proportional to $\delta(p^2)$ in Fourier space, arise due to gravitational radiation, and, as expected, are only present when on-shell modes are turned on.

A priori, other than those identified through (2.25), we cannot tell in advance whether the effective action contains more terms of the form in (2.19). In fact, it may not hold for all types of non-linear radiation-reaction contributions, in particular those involving several (non-vanishing) insertions of Δ_{\pm} which may lead to additional contributions of the form in (2.19) that are not captured by (2.25). In some paradigmatic examples the contribution from (2.25) does encapsulate the entire conservative sector. This is the case, for instance, for all potential interactions (for which Δ_{\pm} vanishes). It is also the case for tail-induced effects [48, 52, 53, 78, 79]. We will return to this point briefly in section 4, and in more detail elsewhere [154]. Fortunately, none of the above issues arise at leading order in the radiation-reaction at 3PM, which involves only a single non-vanishing insertion of Δ_{-} . In this case there is a clear separation into dissipative and conservative contributions, which we study next.

3 Scattering to 3PM

3.1 Building the integrand

We can now use the in-in diagrammatic rules to obtain the variation of the effective action necessary to compute the total impulse. For simplicity, we only display here the arrows which dictate — according to causality — whether retarded or advanced Green's functions appear in the graviton propagators.

At 1PM order there are only two diagrams

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}[x_+, x_-]}{\delta x_-^{\alpha}} \Big|_{\substack{x_- \to 0\\x_+ \to x}}^{\text{1PM}} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \right\} + \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \right\}.$$
(3.1)

At 2PM, on the other hand, we have

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}[x_+, x_-]}{\delta x_-^{\alpha}} \bigg|_{\substack{x_- \to 0\\x_+ \to x}}^{2\text{PM}} = \left(\begin{array}{c} & & \\ &$$

Whereas, at 3PM order,

$$\frac{\delta \mathcal{S}_{\text{eff}}[x_{+}, x_{-}]}{\delta x_{-}^{\alpha}}\Big|_{x_{+} \to x}^{3\text{PM}} = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{\pi} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{\kappa} + \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{\kappa} \frac{\sqrt{\pi$$

The ellipsis in the last expression include the same type of *self-energy* diagrams (with all sources and sinks on the same worldline) shown above, which are in general needed to include radiation-reaction effects. Modulo the time routing of each diagram, all of these resemble the same type in the conservative sector to 3PM [74, 75], except for the self-energy terms which lead to scaleless integrals in the potential region that in dim. reg. can be set to zero. More on this below.

Once the integrand for the impulse is constructed via the above Feynman rules we still need to compute it on solutions to the equations of motion. This entails, as before [74], adding the *iterations* of lower order contributions to the effective action evaluated on the trajectories [74] to a given nPM order,

$$x_{a}^{\mu}(\tau_{a}) = b_{a}^{\mu} + u_{a}^{\mu}\tau_{a} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \delta^{(k)} x_{a}^{\mu}(\tau_{a}),$$

$$v_{a}^{\mu}(\tau_{a}) = u_{a}^{\mu} + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \delta^{(k)} v_{a}^{\mu}(\tau_{a}),$$
(3.4)

with u_a the incoming velocities and $b_1^{\mu} - b_2^{\mu} \equiv b^{\mu}$ the (space-like) impact parameter four-vector. These trajectories can be solved iteratively using (2.10) after the limit: $x_{a,-} \to 0$, $x_{a,+} \to x_a$, has been taken. Because they are obtained from the variation of the effective action, following our previous argument it is straightforward to show the resulting equations of motion in the in-in and in-out formalisms are equally related by replacing retarded and Feynman propagators, and vice-versa following a causal routing. Hence, the procedure to separate between conservative and dissipative terms we discussed before is unaltered by the inclusion of iterations. Moreover, since self-energy diagrams evaluated on unperturbed trajectories vanish in dim. reg., they can only contribute through iterations on each of the sources. Therefore, only the extra term in (3.1) is needed to 3PM order.

3.2 Integration problem

After the integrand is assembled, say for the impulse of particle 1, and the tensor reduction performed following the same steps as in [75, 78, 79], we find the following families of integrals:

$$I_{\nu_1\dots\nu_9}^{\pm\pm;T_5\dots T_9} = \int_{\ell_1,\ell_2} \frac{\hat{\delta}^{(\nu_1-1)}(\ell_1 \cdot u_a)\hat{\delta}^{(\nu_2-1)}(\ell_2 \cdot u_b)}{(\pm\ell_1 \cdot u_d)^{\nu_3}(\pm\ell_2 \cdot u_b)^{\nu_4}} \prod_{j=5}^9 \frac{1}{D_{j,T_j}^{\nu_j}},$$
(3.5)

where we use the same notation as in [75, 78, 79], except for the choice of *i*0-prescription, determined by sets of square propagators of type $T_i \in {\text{ret}, \text{adv}}$:

$$D_{5,\text{ret/adv}} = (\ell_1^0 \pm i0)^2 - \ell_1^2, \qquad D_{6,\text{ret/adv}} = (\ell_2^0 \pm i0)^2 - \ell_2^2, D_{7,\text{ret/adv}} = (\ell_1^0 + \ell_2^0 + q^0 \pm i0)^2 - (\ell_1 + \ell_2 - q)^2, \qquad (3.6)$$
$$D_{8,\text{ret/adv}} = (\ell_1^0 - q^0 \pm i0)^2 - (\ell_1 - q)^2, \qquad D_{9,\text{ret/adv}} = (\ell_2^0 - q^0 \pm i0)^2 - (\ell_2 - q)^2.$$

The integrand itself only contains factors with $\nu_1 = \nu_2 = 1$, i.e. no derivative. However, because the integrals in (3.5) turn out to be not all independent, derivatives of the Dirac- δ functions may be introduced by the standard *integration-by-parts* (IBP) relations [118, 119, 155]. We have used the combination of the automated programs LiteRed [145] and FIRE6 [136] to relate the integrals appearing in the integrand to a set of $\mathcal{O}(100)$ masters.⁴

The reader will immediately notice the sharp contrast with the number of master integrals needed for the computation in [75]. The reason is one of the main advantages of Feynman propagators, and the use of the symmetry relations implemented by these programs, which are not present for the case of retarded/advanced Green's functions. Nevertheless, additional simplifications arise once we restrict ourselves to the conservative and dissipative sectors, respectively. First of all, for the former we can replace retarded/advanced by Feynman Green's functions, essentially returning to the analysis in [75], which we review below. For the latter, we notice only radiation modes contribute to Δ_{\pm} . Hence, after isolating the different kinematical regions of integration via e.g. the asy2.m code included in the FIESTA package [124, 125, 143], we can show that only the 7th propagator in the above families has a non-zero radiation region, with all others entering only through potential modes. This means, as expected, that diagrams with a single insertion of Δ_{-} contribute to the dissipative sector at 3PM, with the others replaced by Feynman Green's functions. In such scenario, there is a subset of symmetry relations that reduce the number of master integrals to about $\mathcal{O}(50)$, which we computed via the method of differential equations [120, 121, 128, 129, 132, 133, 138].

Since there is only a single scale in the problem, it is convenient to choose the parameter x, defined through [113]

$$\gamma = (x^2 + 1)/2x$$
, with $\gamma \equiv u_1 \cdot u_2$. (3.7)

The dependence on the parameter x is then extracted order by order in ϵ by iterated integrations. At this order it is straightforward to show the differential equations can be brought into canonical form [128]. For the problem at hand only three independent functions appear

$$\{\log(x), \log(1+x), \log(1-x)\},$$
 (3.8)

⁴There is one subtlety due to the presence of self-energy diagrams leading to iterations involving linear propagators with the same internal momentum but both $\pm i0$ prescriptions, e.g. $1/(\ell_1 \cdot u_2 + i0)(\ell_1 \cdot u_2 - i0)$. (Notice this cannot occur for quadratic propagators in the classical theory.) These are both treated on equal footing by the IBP programs, irrespectively of the signs. Hence, we would not know how to reassign the correct signs after IBP relations. Fortunately, we were able to construct a basis of master integrals for which these type of terms are absent (or appear in the numerator), thus avoiding this problem.

up to polynomials in the x variable. This uniquely fixes the velocity dependence of the master integrals up to a series of appropriate boundary conditions, which we choose near the static limit $x \to 1$. Notably, the solution to the differential equations allow us to extract the scaling in (1 - x) for each individual integral in this limit [79, 144], which becomes extremely useful to set up a series of consistency conditions that allow us to simplify the number of boundary constants needed to read off the full answer.

Additional consistency requirements may be enforced to reduce the number of independent constants. The first is the lack of absorption, $\Delta m_a^2 = 0$, which implies the conservation of the on-shell condition $(p_a + \Delta p_a)^2 = p_a^2$, restricting the impulse to point in the direction orthogonal to u_a^{μ} [112, 114]. At a more technical level, we also impose the cancelation in the final answer of intermediate $1/\epsilon^k$ poles. Furthermore, terms proportional to $\log(1 - x) \propto \log v$ are uniquely fixed by the universal connection to tail terms [73] (and therefore do not enter until 4PM order [79]). Finally, as anticipated e.g. [29], we can enforce continuity of the massless/high-energy limit at 3PM order, thus removing mass singularities.⁵ Remarkably, all of these properties completely determine the radiation-reaction impulse in the direction of the impact parameter at 3PM, and only a handful of boundary integrals for the longitudinal direction are needed.

3.3 Boundary integrals

As we mentioned, once the solution of the differential equations are known, the last input are integration constants obtained from master integrals in the limit $x \to 1$. We first review the procedure for the conservative pieces before discussing radiative contributions.

3.3.1 Conservative

As it was computed in [75], and further established here from the in-in formalism, the conservative sector is obtained from the full integrand by replacing retarded/advanced propagators by Feynman counterparts and keeping the real part of the resulting impulse. In principle, at this stage both potential and radiation modes can be present. However, as we mentioned earlier, only a single propagator has support on radiation modes and therefore only the potential region contribute to the real part with time-symmetric boundary conditions (with an imaginary part consistent with the optical theorem). This also implies that all self-energy diagrams vanish in dim. reg. for the conservative sector at $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$.

The result for the potential boundary conditions was already computed in [75]. However, in order to relate the solution to the master integrals in [75] an additional set of (static) IBP relations must be used at x = 1. Decomposing the impulse as

$$\Delta p_1^{\mu} = \sum_n G^n \Delta^{(n)} p_1^{\mu} \,, \tag{3.9}$$

we find at 3PM order,

$$\Delta^{(3)} p_{1,\text{cons}}^{\mu} = \frac{4M^4 \nu b^{\mu}}{3|b|^4 x^2 (x^2 - 1)^5} [c_1(x) + \nu c_2(x) + \nu c_3(x) \log(x)] \\ - \frac{3\pi M^4 \nu c_4(x) \left((\Delta_m - 1)\check{u}_1^{\mu} + (\Delta_m + 1)\check{u}_2^{\mu}\right)}{8|b|^3 x^2 (x^2 - 1)^2},$$
(3.10)

⁵As we shall see in [153] this is no longer the case at 4PM order.

with $|b| = \sqrt{-b^{\mu}b_{\mu}}$, where we have introduced

$$\check{u}_1 = \frac{\gamma u_2 - u_1}{\gamma^2 - 1}, \quad \check{u}_2 = \frac{\gamma u_1 - u_2}{\gamma^2 - 1},$$
(3.11)

obeying $\check{u}_a \cdot u_b = \delta_{ab}$. The c_i 's are polynomials given by

$$c_{1}(x) = -12x \left(x^{12} - 2x^{10} - x^{8} - x^{4} - 2x^{2} + 1 \right),$$

$$c_{2}(x) = -(x-1)^{2} \left(5x^{12} - 14x^{11} - 88x^{10} - 114x^{9} - 5x^{8} + 128x^{7} + 128x^{6} + 128x^{5} - 5x^{4} - 114x^{3} - 88x^{2} - 14x + 5 \right),$$

$$c_{3}(x) = 6 \left(x^{8} - 8x^{6} - 30x^{4} - 8x^{2} + 1 \right) \left(x^{2} - 1 \right)^{3},$$

$$c_{4}(x) = \left(x^{4} + 1 \right) \left(5x^{4} + 6x^{2} + 5 \right).$$
(3.12)

Using that, for 0 < x < 1, $\log(x) = -\operatorname{arccosh}(\gamma)$, the above result can also be written directly in γ space, yielding

$$\begin{split} \Delta^{(3)} p_{1,\text{cons}}^{\mu} &= \frac{b^{\mu}}{|b|^4} \left(-\frac{2m_1m_2 \left(m_1^2 + m_2^2\right)}{\left(\gamma^2 - 1\right)^{5/2}} \left(16\gamma^6 - 32\gamma^4 + 16\gamma^2 - 1 \right) \right. \tag{3.13} \\ &\quad - \frac{4m_1^2m_2^2\gamma}{3 \left(\gamma^2 - 1\right)^{5/2}} \left(20\gamma^6 - 90\gamma^4 + 120\gamma^2 - 53 \right) \\ &\quad + \frac{8m_1^2m_2^2}{\gamma^2 - 1} \left(4\gamma^4 - 12\gamma^2 - 3 \right) \operatorname{arccosh}\left(\gamma\right) \right) \\ &\quad + \frac{3\pi}{2} \frac{\check{u}_1}{|b|^3} m_1 m_2^2 \left(m_1 + m_2 \right) \frac{\left(2\gamma^2 - 1\right) \left(5\gamma^2 - 1\right)}{\gamma^2 - 1} \\ &\quad - \frac{3\pi}{2} \frac{\check{u}_2}{|b|^3} m_1^2 m_2 \left(m_1 + m_2 \right) \frac{\left(2\gamma^2 - 1\right) \left(5\gamma^2 - 1\right)}{\gamma^2 - 1} \,, \end{split}$$

in accordance with the result in [75].

3.3.2 Dissipative

Non-conservative terms are obtained by systematically including the factors of Δ_{-} accounting for the mismatch between Feynman and retarded propagators. Unlike Feynman Green's functions, the Δ_{-} vanishes for off-shell modes and therefore we just need to consider the single propagator which can have support on the radiation region. Furthermore, as we discussed in [78, 79], each radiation mode scales with a power of $(1 - x)^{-2\epsilon}$. This already allows us to individually target radiative contributions.

Surprisingly, most of the integration constants for the dissipative sector can be determined by the same type of consistency constraints already implemented in [78, 79] to study radiation-reaction effects in the conservative sector at 4PM. In particular, the contribution in the direction of the impact parameter b^{μ} turns out to be uniquely fixed. Furthermore, for the longitudinal term, which must be proportional to \check{u}_{2}^{μ} , the master integrals have already been computed in the literature [85, 112, 114] via Cutkosky rules [156] (see e.g. appendix C in [85]), which we confirm here in terms of solutions of the differential equations. As an example, consider the H-type master integral resulting after IBP relations

$$I_{\rm H} = \int_{\ell_1,\ell_2} \frac{\delta'(\ell_1 \cdot u_a)\delta(\ell_2 \cdot u_b)}{\ell_1^2 \ell_2^2 (((\ell_1 + \ell_2 - q)^0 + i0)^2 - (\ell_1 + \ell_2 + q)^2)(\ell_1 - q)^2(\ell_2 - q)^2} \,. \tag{3.14}$$

As we mentioned, only one leg may be taken as a full retarded propagator, with the other ones having support only on potential modes. After replacing $\Delta_{\rm ret} \rightarrow \Delta_{\rm F} + \Delta_{-}$ and identifying the conservative piece from the real part of the Feynman-only computation,⁶ the dissipative term is obtained by replacing $\Delta_{\rm ret} \rightarrow \Delta_{-}$, yielding for this integral

$$I_{\rm H}^{\rm cut} = \int_{\ell_1,\ell_2} \frac{\hat{\delta}'(\ell_1 \cdot u_a)\hat{\delta}(\ell_2 \cdot u_b)\hat{\delta}\left((\ell_1 + \ell_2 - q)^2\right)\Theta\left(-\ell_1^0 - \ell_2^0 + q^0\right)}{\ell_1^2\ell_2^2(\ell_1 - q)^2(\ell_2 - q)^2}\,,\tag{3.15}$$

which (up to a sign) corresponds to the master integral f_4 in [85] after performing the shift $\ell_i \leftrightarrow -\ell_i$ and $q \leftrightarrow -q$. This integral was computed by resorting to Cutkosky's rules [156], including also a cut over hypothetical linear 'worldline propagators,' which account for the Dirac- δ functions already present in $I_{\rm H}$, and conspicuously everywhere in the worldline formalism. We may describe the procedure diagrammatically as follows

$$I_{\rm H}^{\rm cut} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \\ \\ \\ \\ \end{array} \right\}, \qquad (3.16)$$

where the dotted lines represent the $\delta^{(n)}$ functions as cut linear propagators, with the big dot on the upper line denoting the case $\nu_1 = 2$ (i.e. a derivative) for one of the δ 's. The cut over the retarded propagator denotes the replacement $\Delta_{\rm ret}(p) \rightarrow 2\pi i \, \delta(p^2) \Theta(-p^0)$ in momentum space.⁷ By Cutkosky's rules, we can relate the cut integral to the imaginary part of its *uncut* version,⁸

$$= 2 \operatorname{Im} \left(\underbrace{} \underbrace{} \underbrace{} \\ \underbrace$$

⁷Because of the $\Theta(-p^0)$, we have flipped the arrow on the retarded propagator to illustrate that positive energy is flowing towards the right of the diagram, as it is standard lore.

 8 The only subtlety here is the cut over the linear propagator, which relies on the identity

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{e^{-i\,\ell\cdot x}}{\ell\cdot u+i0} = -2\pi i \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4\ell}{(2\pi)^4} e^{-i\,\ell\cdot x} \delta(\ell\cdot u) \left(\Theta(u^0)\Theta(x^0) + \Theta(-u^0)\Theta(-x^0)\right) \,,$$

such that the cut propagator is given by $2\pi i \,\delta(\ell \cdot u) \Theta(u^0)$, as expected. (Note this differs from the version given in [114] in terms of $\Theta(\ell^0)$ which, however, we believe to be a typo.) In this fashion, the $\delta(\ell \cdot u)$ from the time-integration of the worldline sources — naturally obeying $u^0 > 1$ in the classical theory — can then be equally described by cut linear propagators.

⁶Remarkably, the resulting imaginary part of the Feynman integrals entering the impulse in the \check{u}_2 direction vanish. Consequently, the contribution from the remaining cut integrals are real functions such that the cancelation of imaginary parts becomes trivial in this case.

with the dotted and straight lines representing the cut and uncut linear propagators, including higher derivatives of Dirac- δ functions corresponding to higher powers of linear propagators. The uncut integral, which is now entirely written in terms of Feynman propagators, can then be computed in the near-static limit $x \to 1$ by direct integration. See [85] for more details.

Combining all these results we find at 3PM,

$$\Delta^{(3)} p_{1,\text{diss}}^{\mu} = \frac{M^4 \nu^2 (1+x^4)^2 b^{\mu}}{3|b|^4 x^2 (x^2-1)^5} \left[d_1(x) + d_2(x) \log(x) \right] + \frac{\pi M^4 \nu^2 \check{u}_2^{\mu}}{192|b|^3 x^3 (x^2-1)^4} \left[d_3(x) + d_4(x) \log\left(\frac{x+1}{2}\right) + d_5(x) \log(x) \right],$$
(3.18)

for the leading order contribution to the dissipative part, with

$$d_{1}(x) = 4 \left(5x^{6} - 27x^{4} + 27x^{2} - 5 \right), \quad d_{2}(x) = -24 \left(x^{6} - 3x^{4} - 3x^{2} + 1 \right),$$

$$d_{3}(x) = 105x^{12} - 552x^{11} + 1308x^{10} - 6408x^{9} + 29471x^{8} - 69840x^{7} + 93368x^{6} - 69840x^{5} + 29471x^{4} - 6408x^{3} + 1308x^{2} - 552x + 105,$$

$$d_{4}(x) = -6 \left(x^{2} - 1 \right)^{3} \left(35x^{8} + 120x^{7} - 460x^{6} + 968x^{5} - 1070x^{4} + 968x^{3} - 460x^{2} + 120x + 35 \right),$$

$$d_{5}(x) = 6x \left(35x^{13} + 60x^{12} - 325x^{11} + 304x^{10} + 198x^{9} - 788x^{8} + 446x^{7} - 889x^{5} + 788x^{4} - 217x^{3} - 304x^{2} + 240x - 60 \right).$$

(3.19)

Translating to γ space we have,

$$\begin{split} \Delta^{(3)} p_{1,\text{diss}}^{\mu} &= \frac{4m_1^2 m_2^2 b^{\mu}}{3|b|^4} \frac{(2\gamma^2 - 1)^2}{(\gamma^2 - 1)^{5/2}} \left(\sqrt{\gamma^2 - 1} \left(5\gamma^2 - 8 \right) + 3\gamma \left(3 - 2\gamma^2 \right) \operatorname{arccosh}\left(\gamma\right) \right) \\ &+ \frac{\pi m_1^2 m_2^2 \check{u}_2}{48 \left(\gamma^2 - 1\right)^{3/2} |b|^3} \bigg[-3\gamma \left(70\gamma^6 - 165\gamma^4 + 112\gamma^2 - 33 \right) \frac{\operatorname{arccosh}\left(\gamma\right)}{\sqrt{\gamma^2 - 1}} \\ &+ 6 \left(35\gamma^6 + 60\gamma^5 - 185\gamma^4 + 16\gamma^3 + 145\gamma^2 - 76\gamma + 5 \right) \log\left(\frac{\gamma + 1}{2}\right) \\ &+ \left(-210\gamma^6 + 552\gamma^5 - 339\gamma^4 + 912\gamma^3 - 3148\gamma^2 + 3336\gamma - 1151 \right) \bigg], \quad (3.20) \end{split}$$

which (up to an overall sign) reproduces the result in [114]. From here one can extract the total radiated energy in hyperbolic-like motion in the center-of-mass frame,

$$\Delta E_{\rm hyp} = -(\Delta p_1 + \Delta p_2) \cdot \frac{(m_1 u_1 + m_2 u_2)}{|m_1 u_1 + m_2 u_2|}, \qquad (3.21)$$

that can then be further transformed via the boundary-to-bound dictionary [73]

$$\Delta E_{\rm ell}(J) = \Delta E_{\rm hyp}(J) - \Delta E_{\rm hyp}(-J), \qquad (3.22)$$

with J the (total) angular momentum, to obtain the radiated energy over one period of a bound elliptic-like orbit.

4 Discussion & outlook

Building upon the formalism introduced in [1, 45–50], we developed the in-in framework to study scattering processes within the worldline EFT approach. Despite the apparent increase in complexity, we have shown how the computation of the relativistic integrand for the total impulse can be mapped to the in-out counterpart, and vice-versa, provided a consistent flow (of time) is assigned to each diagram following the in-in Feynman rules. After reducing the problem to a series of master integrals involving retarded Green's functions, these can then be computed to all orders in velocity through differential equations. In comparison with standard Feynman propagators, only the issue of symmetry relations (under $p \rightarrow -p$) must be reevaluated.⁹ The final solution then follows up to a set of boundary integrals in the near-static limit. Notably, consistency conditions imposed by the full solution can be further exploited to bootstrap the final answer up to a handful of constants.

In order to identify the different terms, the identity $\Delta_{ret} = \Delta_F + \Delta_-$ allows us to split the total in-in impulse as

$$\Delta p_{\rm tot}^{\mu} = \Delta p_{\rm F}^{\mu} + \Delta p_{\rm cut}^{\mu} \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where $\Delta p_{\rm F}^{\mu}$ is obtained by replacing $\Delta_{\rm ret}$ with $\Delta_{\rm F}$ in the in-in integrand for the total impulse. As we showed, this procedure agrees with the in-out derivation. The remaining $\Delta p_{\rm cut}^{\mu}$ then involves the insertions of Δ_{-} 's where the time ordering plays an important role. Following [1] we demonstrated that $\Delta p_{\rm cons}^{\mu} \equiv \mathbb{R} \Delta p_{\rm F}^{\mu}$ can be obtained from a conservative Lagrangian/Hamiltonian, such that $\Delta p_{\rm diss}^{\mu} \equiv \mathbb{R} \Delta p_{\rm cut}^{\mu}$ includes all the dissipative effects, yielding for the total impulse a decomposition

$$\Delta p_{\rm tot}^{\mu} = \Delta p_{\rm cons}^{\mu} + \Delta p_{\rm diss}^{\mu} \,, \tag{4.2}$$

which is independent of the nature of the interaction. As expected, the imaginary parts cancel out in the sum, which must add up to a real value for the impulse. The conservative piece of the impulse is thus built up entirely in terms of (unoriented) Feynman propagators, whereas the dissipative part is obtained by systematically replacing the full $\Delta_{\rm ret}$ with the Δ_{-} Green's functions. Diagrammatically, following our previous conventions and up to iterations from lower order equations of motion, the computation for the variation of the effective action can then be represented as follows



⁹In principle, because of the $\Theta(\pm p^0)$ in advance/retarded propagators, it may seem these would introduce extra terms once they are hit by derivatives w.r.t. the momentum. However, one can also think of the *i*0-prescription as a choice of contour integration for Green's function of the *box* operator. Hence, we do not expect the ultimate choice to alter the form of the differential equations other than through the boundary conditions. We thank Ruth Britto for a discussion on this point.

Let us mention again that, although consistent with the analysis in [1], the separation through Feynman's prescription may, however, not be complete. In fact, we cannot rule out the possibility that additional conservative-like terms, descending from interactions of the form in (2.19), could remain hidden within the 'dissipative' part. This is particularly relevant for non-linear radiative effects, starting at $\mathcal{O}(G^4)$ and beyond, which include even-in-time hereditary contributions, such a tail and memory effects.¹⁰ For instance, the complete result for the impulse at 4PM reported in [153] suggests that conservative-like hereditary terms may be present — from the point of view of the *relative motion*—beyond the Feynman-only prescription, see also [62, 157] for related work in the PN regime. We will return to this issue in more detail elsewhere [154].

After implementing the methodology of differential equations to compute the resulting master integrals, the remaining task is reduced to obtaining the necessary boundary conditions, both in the conservative and dissipative sectors, which may be then further decomposed using the method of regions [33]. As we have seen, the contribution from radiation modes to $\Delta p_{\rm F}^{\mu}$ produces only imaginary terms at 3PM so that the conservative sector is dominated by the potential-only region at this order. The impulse was already computed in [75] and reproduced here from the full integrand. Radiation modes do enter in the conservative sector, yet at higher orders. For instance, as discussed in [78, 79, 153], the above procedure yields a conservative impulse at 4PM which includes both potential and radiation-reaction effects. On the other hand, because of the presence of $\delta(p^2)$, radiation modes are necessary for a non-zero dissipative term.

The associated boundary integrals with the insertion of Δ_{-} propagators can be obtained either by subtracting from the computation with retarded Green's functions the radiative (Feynman-only) conservative part, see [153]; or directly, using Cutkosky's rules [156], as it was first implemented in [114] and discussed in here. For the latter one must generalize the standard cutting rules, such that the Dirac- δ functions for the sources in the worldline EFT approach may be described in terms of cuts over linear propagators. Once again, in addition to the incursion of Feynman's *i*0-prescription dictated by the path integral, here we find yet another standard tool from quantum field theory, i.e. unitary relations, playing a key role at the classical level. Even though all the integral cuts at 3PM may be computed following the analysis in [85, 112, 114], we have shown a dramatic simplification occurs after applying a set of consistency conditions to the full answer [79]. Similar simplifications occur at higher PM orders [153]. This is another instance in which the use of differential equations turn out to be a powerful tool to solve the entire dynamics.

Let us comment on some important points regarding the above manipulations, and in particular with regards to the different choices of basis in the in-in formalism, namely either

¹⁰Let us emphasize that the distinction between different types of non-linear radiative effects, i.e., tails (scattering off of the geometry), memory (scattering off of the earlier emission), or second order in the radiation-reaction force, is only meaningful from the standpoint of the radiation (or far) zone, see e.g. [48, 62]. On the other hand, in a PM scheme as the one here, only the overall scaling associated with the number of radiation modes involved has a significant meaning [79, 153]. This makes the connection between PM computations and the more standard derivations of tail and memory effects in the PN literature, e.g. [11], somewhat less straightforward, with complete results perhaps as the only path to meaningful comparisons, see e.g. [157].

using (2.4) or (2.7). On the one hand, the former provides us with a natural identification of conservative terms via Feynman Green's functions within the standard in-out prescription; whereas, on the other hand, the latter makes causality explicit in the form of retarded propagators. Yet, as we demonstrated here, the map between the in-in and in-out results for the impulse allows us to implement the split in (4.1) even though, in principle, the integrand was constructed in the \pm -basis. In turn, the choice of basis influences the way the real part of the impulse computed with Feynman propagators arises. While, as we discussed, this is straightforward in the 1/2-basis, the cancelation of imaginary parts in the \pm -basis becomes manifest only after (A.3) and re-writing $\Delta_{\rm ret}$ as the average of Feynman and Dyson terms.

Let us conclude with a few remarks regarding the connection between the in-in worldline formalism and the so-called KMOC approach introduced in [97]. Following unitarity of the *S*-matrix, the KMOC prescription to compute the impulse is split into two contributions, denoted as $I_{(1)}$ and $I_{(2)}$ in [97]. The former is constructed in terms of the scattering amplitude in the standard in-out approach, whereas the latter appears in the form of a sum over cuts. As in our case, the sum of these two terms must add up to the (real) total impulse, and therefore intermediate imaginary parts must cancel out. Let us concentrate first on the conservative sector. Following momentum conservation, the impulse (in general relativity) can be uniquely determined at any PM order from I_{\perp} , the perpendicular part introduced in [114]. Hence, after taking the classical limit and subtracting *super-classical* terms, the real part of the (time-symmetric) contribution linear in the scattering amplitude ought to be identified with a conservative contribution.¹¹ Modulo the lack of subtractions in our formalism, this part then resembles the first term in our decomposition of the total impulse — provided massive lines are further reduced and combined into Dirac- δ functions using reversed unitarity [113].

For dissipative terms, on the other hand, both the perpendicular and longitudinal contributions matter. Moreover, since the real part of the Feynman piece is invariant under $t \to -t$, only the cuts contribute to the dissipative sector. The latter therefore must include, among other things, the remaining terms in our decomposition. However, because of super-classical pieces and the appearance of cuts over massive lines needed to account for the conservative impulse in the longitudinal direction (consistently with momentum conservation), the direct comparison between terms is less transparent. The map also becomes less straightforward at higher orders once we include iterations of lower order deflections that include radiation-reaction effects. Hence, although the KMOC and in-in worldline formalism are clearly tightly related, the identification of terms requires further study. Yet, understanding the map between the different frameworks, and the relation to the eikonal phase [112] (see also [101]), can ultimately allow us to freely incorporate techniques and simplifications that can help us not only fine-tune the computational machinery, but also help us elucidate the role of quantum-based tools from the theory of scattering amplitudes in classical computations.

¹¹Notice that due to the pollution from super-classical terms additional subtractions, also in the form of cuts, may still be needed even with potential-only modes, see e.g. eq. 6.18 in [114], resembling the iterated terms in [99]. However, these cuts also contain physical information needed to include non-conservative effects.

Note added. While the results in this paper were prepared for submission we became aware of the work in [158] which has some overlap with the derivations in our paper. We thank the authors for sharing a draft prior to submission.

Acknowledgments

We thank Ruth Britto, Christoph Dlapa, Walter Goldberger, Zhengwen Liu, Massimiliano Riva and Chia-Hsien Shen for illuminating discussions, and in particular to Christoph Dlapa for invaluable help on the topic of differential equations. J.N. would like to thank Benjamin Sauer for useful exchanges. We would like to thank also the participants of the program "High-Precision Gravitational Waves at the KITP (supported in part by the National Science Foundation under Grant No. NSF PHY-1748958) for useful discussions. The work of G.K. and R.A.P. received support from the ERC-CoG *Precision Gravity: From the LHC to LISA*, provided by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's H2020 research and innovation programme (grant No. 817791).

A Green's functions

Throughout this paper we use the following conventions for Feynman/Dyson, retarded/advanced and Wightman Green's functions:

$$\Delta_{\rm F}(x) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{e^{-ip \cdot x}}{p^2 + i0}, \qquad \Delta_{\rm D}(x) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{e^{-ip \cdot x}}{p^2 - i0}, \Delta_{\rm ret}(x) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{e^{-ip \cdot x}}{(p^0 + i0)^2 - p^2}, \qquad \Delta_{\rm adv}(x) = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{e^{-ip \cdot x}}{(p^0 - i0)^2 - p^2}, \Delta_{\pm}(x) = 2\pi i \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} e^{-ip \cdot x} \delta(p^2) \Theta(\pm p^0), \qquad (A.1)$$

obeying, in position space,

$$\Delta_{\rm F}(x) = -\Delta_{+}(x)\Theta(x^{0}) - \Delta_{-}(x)\Theta(-x^{0}),$$

$$\Delta_{\rm D}(x) = \Delta_{-}(x)\Theta(x^{0}) + \Delta_{+}(x)\Theta(-x^{0}),$$

$$\Delta_{\rm ret}(x) = -(\Delta_{+}(x) - \Delta_{-}(x))\Theta(x^{0}),$$

$$\Delta_{\rm adv}(x) = (\Delta_{+}(x) - \Delta_{-}(x))\Theta(-x^{0}),$$

(A.2)

implying the relations

$$\Delta_{\rm ret}(x) = \Delta_{\rm F}(x) + \Delta_{-}(x) = \Delta_{\rm D}(x) - \Delta_{+}(x),$$

$$\Delta_{\rm adv}(x) = \Delta_{\rm F}(x) + \Delta_{+}(x) = \Delta_{\rm D}(x) - \Delta_{-}(x),$$
(A.3)

B Classical electrodynamics

It is straightforward to use the formalism developed in this paper to study the case of classical electromagnetism, controlled by the worldline action

$$S = -\frac{1}{4} \int d^4x \, F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} - \sum_a \int d\tau_a \left(\frac{m_a}{2} v_a^2 + e \, q_a v_a^\mu A_\mu(x_a^\alpha) \right) \,, \tag{B.1}$$

where $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$, A_{μ} is the four-vector potential, and $q_{a=1,2}$ are the respective charges. The computation simplifies drastically compared to the gravity case. The main reason is the absence of bulk interactions, which implies only two diagram are needed for the complete, all-order variation of the effective action:

$$\frac{\delta S_{\text{eff}}[x_+, x_-]}{\delta x_-^{\alpha}} \bigg|_{\substack{x_- \to 0\\ x_+ \to x}} = \left. \underbrace{\bigotimes}_{k_+}^{\otimes} + \underbrace{\bigotimes}_{k_+}^{\otimes} \right.$$
(B.2)

Hence, all higher order contributions to the deflection are exclusively coming from iterations via the equations of motion. The rest of the calculation is unchanged, such that the result depends on a subset of the master integrals for the gravity case. Expanding the impulse in powers of $\alpha = e^2/4\pi$,

$$\Delta p_1^{\mu} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \Delta^{(n)} p_1^{\mu} \alpha^n \,, \tag{B.3}$$

we find for the conservative contribution

$$\Delta^{(3)} p_{1,\text{cons}}^{\mu} = \frac{q_1^3 q_2^3 b^{\mu}}{8\pi^2 |b|^4 M^2 \nu^2 (x^2 - 1)^5} \left[4 \left(x^2 + 1 \right) x^4 + \nu \left(x^9 - 8x^6 + 14x^5 - 8x^4 + x \right) \right] \\ + \frac{q_1^3 q_2^3 x \left(x^2 + 1 \right) \left((\Delta_m - 1) \check{u}_1^{\mu} + (\Delta_m + 1) \check{u}_2^{\mu} \right)}{4\pi |b|^3 M^2 (\Delta_m^2 - 1)^2 (x^2 - 1)^2} ,$$
(B.4)

whereas the dissipative part becomes

$$\begin{split} \Delta^{(3)} p_{1,\text{diss}}^{\mu} &= \frac{q_1^2 q_2^2 b^{\mu}}{96\pi^3 |b|^4 M^2 (x^2 - 1)^2 \nu^2} \left[\left(x^2 + 1 \right)^2 \left(q_1^2 (\Delta_m + 2\nu - 1) - q_2^2 (\Delta_m - 2\nu + 1) \right) \right. \\ &+ \frac{12\nu q_1 q_2 x \left(x^2 + 1 \right)^2 \left(x^4 - 1 - 4x^2 \log(x) \right) \right)}{\left(x^2 - 1 \right)^3} \right] \\ &+ \frac{q_1^2 q_2^2 \check{u}_2^{\mu}}{768\pi^2 |b|^3 M^2} \left[\frac{\left(x^2 + 3 \right) \left(3x^2 + 1 \right) \left((\Delta_m - 1)^2 q_1^2 \left(x^2 + 1 \right) + 2(\Delta_m + 1)^2 q_2^2 x \right)}{\left(\Delta_m^2 - 1 \right)^2 x^2 (x^2 - 1)} \right. \\ &- \frac{3q_1 q_2 \left(3x^6 - 8x^5 + 45x^4 - 48x^3 + 45x^2 - 8x + 3 \right)}{\nu \left(x^2 - 1 \right)^3} \\ &+ \frac{12q_1 q_2 x^2 \left(3x^4 + 10x^2 + 3 \right) \log(x)}{\nu \left(x^2 - 1 \right)^4} \right], \end{split}$$
(B.5)

which agrees with the result in [151, 152].

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. SCOAP³ supports the goals of the International Year of Basic Sciences for Sustainable Development.

References

- C.R. Galley, Classical Mechanics of Nonconservative Systems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 174301 [arXiv:1210.2745] [INSPIRE].
- [2] LIGO SCIENTIFIC, VIRGO collaboration, GWTC-2.1: Deep Extended Catalog of Compact Binary Coalescences Observed by LIGO and Virgo During the First Half of the Third Observing Run, LIGO-P2100063 (2021) [arXiv:2108.01045] [INSPIRE].
- [3] LISA collaboration, Laser Interferometer Space Antenna, arXiv: 1702.00786 [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Punturo et al., The Einstein Telescope: A third-generation gravitational wave observatory, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 194002 [INSPIRE].
- [5] A. Buonanno and B.S. Sathyaprakash, Sources of Gravitational Waves: Theory and Observations, arXiv:1410.7832 [INSPIRE].
- [6] R.A. Porto, The Tune of Love and the Nature(ness) of Spacetime, Fortsch. Phys. 64 (2016)
 723 [arXiv:1606.08895] [INSPIRE].
- [7] R.A. Porto, The Music of the Spheres: The Dawn of Gravitational Wave Science, arXiv:1703.06440 [INSPIRE].
- [8] E. Barausse et al., Prospects for Fundamental Physics with LISA, Gen. Rel. Grav. 52 (2020)
 81 [arXiv:2001.09793] [INSPIRE].
- [9] S. Bernitt et al., Fundamental Physics in the Gravitational-Wave Era, Nucl. Phys. News 32 (2022) 16 [INSPIRE].
- T. Damour, Introductory lectures on the Effective One Body formalism, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 23 (2008) 1130 [arXiv:0802.4047] [INSPIRE].
- [11] L. Blanchet, Gravitational Radiation from Post-Newtonian Sources and Inspiralling Compact Binaries, Living Rev. Rel. 17 (2014) 2 [arXiv:1310.1528] [INSPIRE].
- [12] G. Schäfer and P. Jaranowski, Hamiltonian formulation of general relativity and post-Newtonian dynamics of compact binaries, Living Rev. Rel. 21 (2018) 7
 [arXiv:1805.07240] [INSPIRE].
- [13] W.D. Goldberger, Les Houches lectures on effective field theories and gravitational radiation, in Les Houches Summer School — Session 86: Particle Physics and Cosmology: The Fabric of Spacetime Les Houches France, July 31 – August 25 2006 [hep-ph/0701129] [INSPIRE].
- [14] I.Z. Rothstein, Progress in effective field theory approach to the binary inspiral problem, Gen. Rel. Grav. 46 (2014) 1726 [INSPIRE].
- [15] S. Foffa and R. Sturani, Effective field theory methods to model compact binaries, Class. Quant. Grav. 31 (2014) 043001 [arXiv:1309.3474] [INSPIRE].
- [16] R.A. Porto, The effective field theorist's approach to gravitational dynamics, Phys. Rept. 633 (2016) 1 [arXiv:1601.04914] [INSPIRE].
- [17] W.D. Goldberger, Effective field theories of gravity and compact binary dynamics: A Snowmass 2021 whitepaper, in 2022 Snowmass Summer Study Seattle U.S.A., July 17–26 2022 [arXiv:2206.14249] [INSPIRE].
- [18] T. Damour, Gravitational scattering, post-Minkowskian approximation and Effective One-Body theory, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 104015 [arXiv:1609.00354] [INSPIRE].
- [19] T. Damour, High-energy gravitational scattering and the general relativistic two-body problem, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 044038 [arXiv:1710.10599] [INSPIRE].

- [20] T. Damour, P. Jaranowski and G. Schäfer, Nonlocal-in-time action for the fourth post-Newtonian conservative dynamics of two-body systems, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 064058
 [arXiv:1401.4548] [INSPIRE].
- [21] L. Bernard, L. Blanchet, A. Bohé, G. Faye and S. Marsat, Fokker action of nonspinning compact binaries at the fourth post-Newtonian approximation, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 084037
 [arXiv:1512.02876] [INSPIRE].
- [22] L. Bernard, L. Blanchet, A. Bohé, G. Faye and S. Marsat, Energy and periastron advance of compact binaries on circular orbits at the fourth post-Newtonian order, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 044026 [arXiv:1610.07934] [INSPIRE].
- [23] T. Marchand, L. Bernard, L. Blanchet and G. Faye, Ambiguity-Free Completion of the Equations of Motion of Compact Binary Systems at the Fourth Post-Newtonian Order, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 044023 [arXiv:1707.09289] [INSPIRE].
- [24] D. Bini, T. Damour and A. Geralico, Novel approach to binary dynamics: application to the fifth post-Newtonian level, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 231104 [arXiv:1909.02375]
 [INSPIRE].
- [25] D. Bini, T. Damour and A. Geralico, Sixth post-Newtonian local-in-time dynamics of binary systems, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 024061 [arXiv:2004.05407] [INSPIRE].
- [26] D. Bini, T. Damour and A. Geralico, Sixth post-Newtonian nonlocal-in-time dynamics of binary systems, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 084047 [arXiv:2007.11239] [INSPIRE].
- [27] D. Bini, T. Damour and A. Geralico, Scattering of tidally interacting bodies in post-Minkowskian gravity, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 044039 [arXiv:2001.00352] [INSPIRE].
- [28] D. Bini, T. Damour and A. Geralico, Radiative contributions to gravitational scattering, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 084031 [arXiv:2107.08896] [INSPIRE].
- [29] T. Damour, Radiative contribution to classical gravitational scattering at the third order in G, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 124008 [arXiv:2010.01641] [INSPIRE].
- [30] T. Marchand, Q. Henry, F. Larrouturou, S. Marsat, G. Faye and L. Blanchet, The mass quadrupole moment of compact binary systems at the fourth post-Newtonian order, Class. Quant. Grav. 37 (2020) 215006 [arXiv:2003.13672] [INSPIRE].
- [31] F. Larrouturou, Q. Henry, L. Blanchet and G. Faye, The quadrupole moment of compact binaries to the fourth post-Newtonian order: I. Non-locality in time and infra-red divergencies, Class. Quant. Grav. 39 (2022) 115007 [arXiv:2110.02240] [INSPIRE].
- [32] F. Larrouturou, L. Blanchet, Q. Henry and G. Faye, The quadrupole moment of compact binaries to the fourth post-Newtonian order: II. Dimensional regularization and renormalization, Class. Quant. Grav. 39 (2022) 115008 [arXiv:2110.02243] [INSPIRE].
- [33] W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, An Effective field theory of gravity for extended objects, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104029 [hep-th/0409156] [INSPIRE].
- [34] R.A. Porto, Post-Newtonian corrections to the motion of spinning bodies in NRGR, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104031 [gr-qc/0511061] [INSPIRE].
- [35] W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, Dissipative effects in the worldline approach to black hole dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104030 [hep-th/0511133] [INSPIRE].
- [36] R.A. Porto, Absorption effects due to spin in the worldline approach to black hole dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 064026 [arXiv:0710.5150] [INSPIRE].

- [37] R.A. Porto and I.Z. Rothstein, The Hyperfine Einstein-Infeld-Hoffmann potential, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 021101 [gr-qc/0604099] [INSPIRE].
- [38] R.A. Porto and I.Z. Rothstein, Spin(1) Spin(2) Effects in the Motion of Inspiralling Compact Binaries at Third Order in the Post-Newtonian Expansion, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 044012 [arXiv:0802.0720] [INSPIRE].
- [39] R.A. Porto and I.Z. Rothstein, Next to Leading Order Spin(1) Spin(1) Effects in the Motion of Inspiralling Compact Binaries, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 044013 [arXiv:0804.0260]
 [INSPIRE].
- [40] R.A. Porto, Next to leading order spin-orbit effects in the motion of inspiralling compact binaries, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010) 205001 [arXiv:1005.5730] [INSPIRE].
- [41] W.D. Goldberger and A. Ross, Gravitational radiative corrections from effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 124015 [arXiv:0912.4254] [INSPIRE].
- [42] A. Ross, Multipole expansion at the level of the action, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 125033
 [arXiv:1202.4750] [INSPIRE].
- [43] R.A. Porto, A. Ross and I.Z. Rothstein, Spin induced multipole moments for the gravitational wave amplitude from binary inspirals to 2.5 Post-Newtonian order, JCAP 09 (2012) 028
 [arXiv:1203.2962] [INSPIRE].
- [44] R.A. Porto, A. Ross and I.Z. Rothstein, Spin induced multipole moments for the gravitational wave flux from binary inspirals to third Post-Newtonian order, JCAP 03 (2011) 009
 [arXiv:1007.1312] [INSPIRE].
- [45] C.R. Galley and M. Tiglio, Radiation reaction and gravitational waves in the effective field theory approach, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 124027 [arXiv:0903.1122] [INSPIRE].
- [46] C.R. Galley, A.K. Leibovich and I.Z. Rothstein, Finite size corrections to the radiation reaction force in classical electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 094802 [arXiv:1005.2617] [INSPIRE].
- [47] C.R. Galley and A.K. Leibovich, Radiation reaction at 3.5 post-Newtonian order in effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 044029 [arXiv:1205.3842] [INSPIRE].
- [48] C.R. Galley, A.K. Leibovich, R.A. Porto and A. Ross, Tail effect in gravitational radiation reaction: Time nonlocality and renormalization group evolution, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 124010 [arXiv:1511.07379] [INSPIRE].
- [49] N.T. Maia, C.R. Galley, A.K. Leibovich and R.A. Porto, Radiation reaction for spinning bodies in effective field theory I: Spin-orbit effects, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 084064 [arXiv:1705.07934] [INSPIRE].
- [50] N.T. Maia, C.R. Galley, A.K. Leibovich and R.A. Porto, Radiation reaction for spinning bodies in effective field theory II: Spin-spin effects, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 084065 [arXiv:1705.07938] [INSPIRE].
- [51] R.A. Porto and I.Z. Rothstein, Apparent ambiguities in the post-Newtonian expansion for binary systems, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 024062 [arXiv:1703.06433] [INSPIRE].
- [52] S. Foffa and R. Sturani, Dynamics of the gravitational two-body problem at fourth post-Newtonian order and at quadratic order in the Newton constant, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) 064011 [arXiv:1206.7087] [INSPIRE].
- [53] S. Foffa, R.A. Porto, I. Rothstein and R. Sturani, Conservative dynamics of binary systems to fourth Post-Newtonian order in the EFT approach II: Renormalized Lagrangian, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 024048 [arXiv:1903.05118] [INSPIRE].

- [54] S. Foffa, P. Mastrolia, R. Sturani, C. Sturm and W.J. Torres Bobadilla, Static two-body potential at fifth post-Newtonian order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 241605 [arXiv:1902.10571] [INSPIRE].
- [55] J. Blümlein, A. Maier and P. Marquard, Five-Loop Static Contribution to the Gravitational Interaction Potential of Two Point Masses, Phys. Lett. B 800 (2020) 135100
 [arXiv:1902.11180] [INSPIRE].
- [56] S. Foffa and R. Sturani, Hereditary terms at next-to-leading order in two-body gravitational dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 064033 [arXiv:1907.02869] [INSPIRE].
- [57] G.L. Almeida, S. Foffa and R. Sturani, Tail contributions to gravitational conservative dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 124075 [arXiv:2110.14146] [INSPIRE].
- [58] L. Blanchet, S. Foffa, F. Larrouturou and R. Sturani, Logarithmic tail contributions to the energy function of circular compact binaries, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 084045
 [arXiv:1912.12359] [INSPIRE].
- [59] J. Blümlein, A. Maier, P. Marquard and G. Schäfer, Testing binary dynamics in gravity at the sixth post-Newtonian level, Phys. Lett. B 807 (2020) 135496 [arXiv:2003.07145] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J. Blümlein, A. Maier, P. Marquard and G. Schäfer, The 6th post-Newtonian potential terms at $O(G_N^4)$, Phys. Lett. B 816 (2021) 136260 [arXiv:2101.08630] [INSPIRE].
- [61] J. Blümlein, A. Maier, P. Marquard and G. Schäfer, The fifth-order post-Newtonian Hamiltonian dynamics of two-body systems from an effective field theory approach: potential contributions, Nucl. Phys. B 965 (2021) 115352 [arXiv:2010.13672] [INSPIRE].
- [62] J. Blümlein, A. Maier, P. Marquard and G. Schäfer, The fifth-order post-Newtonian Hamiltonian dynamics of two-body systems from an effective field theory approach, Nucl. Phys. B 983 (2022) 115900 [arXiv:2110.13822] [INSPIRE].
- [63] W.D. Goldberger, J. Li and I.Z. Rothstein, Non-conservative effects on spinning black holes from world-line effective field theory, JHEP 06 (2021) 053 [arXiv:2012.14869] [INSPIRE].
- [64] M. Levi, A.J. Mcleod and M. Von Hippel, N³LO gravitational quadratic-in-spin interactions at G⁴, JHEP 07 (2021) 116 [arXiv:2003.07890] [INSPIRE].
- [65] M. Levi, A.J. Mcleod and M. Von Hippel, N³LO gravitational spin-orbit coupling at order G⁴, JHEP 07 (2021) 115 [arXiv:2003.02827] [INSPIRE].
- [66] C.R. Galley and R.A. Porto, Gravitational self-force in the ultra-relativistic limit: the "large-N" expansion, JHEP 11 (2013) 096 [arXiv:1302.4486] [INSPIRE].
- [67] A.K. Leibovich, N.T. Maia, I.Z. Rothstein and Z. Yang, Second post-Newtonian order radiative dynamics of inspiralling compact binaries in the Effective Field Theory approach, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 084058 [arXiv:1912.12546] [INSPIRE].
- [68] B.A. Pardo and N.T. Maia, Next-to-leading order spin-orbit effects in the equations of motion, energy loss and phase evolution of binaries of compact bodies in the effective field theory approach, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 124020 [arXiv:2009.05628] [INSPIRE].
- [69] G. Cho, B. Pardo and R.A. Porto, Gravitational radiation from inspiralling compact objects: Spin-spin effects completed at the next-to-leading post-Newtonian order, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 024037 [arXiv:2103.14612] [INSPIRE].
- [70] G. Cho, R.A. Porto and Z. Yang, Gravitational radiation from inspiralling compact objects: Spin effects to the fourth post-Newtonian order, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) L101501
 [arXiv:2201.05138] [INSPIRE].

- [71] G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, From Boundary Data to Bound States, JHEP **01** (2020) 072 [arXiv:1910.03008] [INSPIRE].
- [72] G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, From boundary data to bound states. Part II. Scattering angle to dynamical invariants (with twist), JHEP **02** (2020) 120 [arXiv:1911.09130] [INSPIRE].
- [73] G. Cho, G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, From boundary data to bound states. Part III. Radiative effects, JHEP 04 (2022) 154 [arXiv:2112.03976] [INSPIRE].
- [74] G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, Post-Minkowskian Effective Field Theory for Conservative Binary Dynamics, JHEP 11 (2020) 106 [arXiv:2006.01184] [INSPIRE].
- [75] G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Conservative Dynamics of Binary Systems to Third Post-Minkowskian Order from the Effective Field Theory Approach, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 261103 [arXiv:2007.04977] [INSPIRE].
- [76] G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Conservative Tidal Effects in Compact Binary Systems to Next-to-Leading Post-Minkowskian Order, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 124025
 [arXiv:2008.06047] [INSPIRE].
- [77] Z. Liu, R.A. Porto and Z. Yang, Spin Effects in the Effective Field Theory Approach to Post-Minkowskian Conservative Dynamics, JHEP 06 (2021) 012 [arXiv:2102.10059]
 [INSPIRE].
- [78] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Dynamics of binary systems to fourth Post-Minkowskian order from the effective field theory approach, Phys. Lett. B 831 (2022) 137203 [arXiv:2106.08276] [INSPIRE].
- [79] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Conservative Dynamics of Binary Systems at Fourth Post-Minkowskian Order in the Large-Eccentricity Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 161104 [arXiv:2112.11296] [INSPIRE].
- [80] G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, *Classical black hole scattering from a worldline quantum field theory*, *JHEP* **02** (2021) 048 [arXiv:2010.02865] [INSPIRE].
- [81] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, Classical Gravitational Bremsstrahlung from a Worldline Quantum Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 201103
 [arXiv:2101.12688] [INSPIRE].
- [82] G.U. Jakobsen and G. Mogull, Conservative and Radiative Dynamics of Spinning Bodies at Third Post-Minkowskian Order Using Worldline Quantum Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 141102 [arXiv:2201.07778] [INSPIRE].
- [83] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, SUSY in the sky with gravitons, JHEP 01 (2022) 027 [arXiv:2109.04465] [INSPIRE].
- [84] S. Mougiakakos, M.M. Riva and F. Vernizzi, Gravitational Bremsstrahlung in the post-Minkowskian effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 024041 [arXiv:2102.08339] [INSPIRE].
- [85] M.M. Riva and F. Vernizzi, Radiated momentum in the post-Minkowskian worldline approach via reverse unitarity, JHEP 11 (2021) 228 [arXiv:2110.10140] [INSPIRE].
- [86] S. Mougiakakos, M.M. Riva and F. Vernizzi, Gravitational Bremsstrahlung with Tidal Effects in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 121101 [arXiv:2204.06556] [INSPIRE].
- [87] M.M. Riva, F. Vernizzi and L.K. Wong, Gravitational bremsstrahlung from spinning binaries in the post-Minkowskian expansion, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 044013 [arXiv:2205.15295] [INSPIRE].

- [88] B.R. Holstein and A. Ross, Spin Effects in Long Range Gravitational Scattering, arXiv:0802.0716 [INSPIRE].
- [89] D. Neill and I.Z. Rothstein, Classical Space-Times from the S Matrix, Nucl. Phys. B 877 (2013) 177 [arXiv:1304.7263] [INSPIRE].
- [90] V. Vaidya, Gravitational spin Hamiltonians from the S matrix, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 024017 [arXiv:1410.5348] [INSPIRE].
- [91] W.D. Goldberger and A.K. Ridgway, Bound states and the classical double copy, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 085019 [arXiv:1711.09493] [INSPIRE].
- [92] W.D. Goldberger and A.K. Ridgway, Radiation and the classical double copy for color charges, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 125010 [arXiv:1611.03493] [INSPIRE].
- [93] C. Cheung, I.Z. Rothstein and M.P. Solon, From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Potentials in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 251101 [arXiv:1808.02489] [INSPIRE].
- [94] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, G. Festuccia, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, General Relativity from Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 171601 [arXiv:1806.04920] [INSPIRE].
- [95] A. Guevara, A. Ochirov and J. Vines, Scattering of Spinning Black Holes from Exponentiated Soft Factors, JHEP 09 (2019) 056 [arXiv:1812.06895] [INSPIRE].
- [96] A. Cristofoli, N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard and P. Vanhove, Post-Minkowskian Hamiltonians in general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 084040 [arXiv:1906.01579] [INSPIRE].
- [97] D.A. Kosower, B. Maybee and D. O'Connell, Amplitudes, Observables, and Classical Scattering, JHEP 02 (2019) 137 [arXiv:1811.10950] [INSPIRE].
- [98] B. Maybee, D. O'Connell and J. Vines, Observables and amplitudes for spinning particles and black holes, JHEP 12 (2019) 156 [arXiv:1906.09260] [INSPIRE].
- [99] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M.P. Solon and M. Zeng, Scattering Amplitudes and the Conservative Hamiltonian for Binary Systems at Third Post-Minkowskian Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 201603 [arXiv:1901.04424] [INSPIRE].
- [100] Z. Bern, C. Cheung, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen, M.P. Solon and M. Zeng, Black Hole Binary Dynamics from the Double Copy and Effective Theory, JHEP 10 (2019) 206 [arXiv:1908.01493] [INSPIRE].
- [101] A. Brandhuber, G. Chen, G. Travaglini and C. Wen, Classical gravitational scattering from a gauge-invariant double copy, JHEP 10 (2021) 118 [arXiv:2108.04216] [INSPIRE].
- [102] K. Haddad and A. Helset, Tidal effects in quantum field theory, JHEP 12 (2020) 024 [arXiv:2008.04920] [INSPIRE].
- [103] R. Aoude, K. Haddad and A. Helset, On-shell heavy particle effective theories, JHEP 05 (2020) 051 [arXiv:2001.09164] [INSPIRE].
- [104] R. Aoude, K. Haddad and A. Helset, Classical Gravitational Spinning-Spinless Scattering at O(G2S∞), Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 141102 [arXiv:2205.02809] [INSPIRE].
- [105] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr, P.H. Damgaard, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, The amplitude for classical gravitational scattering at third Post-Minkowskian order, JHEP 08 (2021) 172
 [arXiv:2105.05218] [INSPIRE].

- [106] Z. Bern, A. Luna, R. Roiban, C.-H. Shen and M. Zeng, Spinning black hole binary dynamics, scattering amplitudes, and effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 065014
 [arXiv:2005.03071] [INSPIRE].
- [107] C. Cheung and M.P. Solon, Tidal Effects in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 191601 [arXiv:2006.06665] [INSPIRE].
- [108] D. Kosmopoulos and A. Luna, Quadratic-in-spin Hamiltonian at $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$ from scattering amplitudes, JHEP 07 (2021) 037 [arXiv:2102.10137] [INSPIRE].
- [109] Z. Bern et al., Scattering Amplitudes and Conservative Binary Dynamics at $\mathcal{O}(G^4)$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **126** (2021) 171601 [arXiv:2101.07254] [INSPIRE].
- [110] Z. Bern et al., Scattering Amplitudes, the Tail Effect, and Conservative Binary Dynamics at $\mathcal{O}(G^4)$, Phys. Rev. Lett. **128** (2022) 161103 [arXiv:2112.10750] [INSPIRE].
- [111] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, Radiation Reaction from Soft Theorems, Phys. Lett. B 818 (2021) 136379 [arXiv:2101.05772] [INSPIRE].
- [112] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, The eikonal approach to gravitational scattering and radiation at O(G³), JHEP 07 (2021) 169 [arXiv:2104.03256]
 [INSPIRE].
- [113] J. Parra-Martinez, M.S. Ruf and M. Zeng, Extremal black hole scattering at O(G³): graviton dominance, eikonal exponentiation, and differential equations, JHEP 11 (2020) 023 [arXiv:2005.04236] [INSPIRE].
- [114] E. Herrmann, J. Parra-Martinez, M.S. Ruf and M. Zeng, *Radiative classical gravitational* observables at $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$ from scattering amplitudes, *JHEP* **10** (2021) 148 [arXiv:2104.03957] [INSPIRE].
- [115] F. Febres Cordero, M. Kraus, G. Lin, M.S. Ruf and M. Zeng, Conservative Binary Dynamics with a Spinning Black Hole at O(G³) from Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 021601 [arXiv:2205.07357] [INSPIRE].
- [116] A.V. Manohar, A.K. Ridgway and C.-H. Shen, Radiated Angular Momentum and Dissipative Effects in Classical Scattering, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 121601 [arXiv:2203.04283]
 [INSPIRE].
- [117] K.-T. Chen, Iterated path integrals, Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 83 (1977) 831 [INSPIRE].
- [118] K.G. Chetyrkin and F.V. Tkachov, Integration by Parts: The Algorithm to Calculate beta Functions in 4 Loops, Nucl. Phys. B 192 (1981) 159 [INSPIRE].
- [119] F.V. Tkachov, A Theorem on Analytical Calculability of Four Loop Renormalization Group Functions, Phys. Lett. B 100 (1981) 65 [INSPIRE].
- [120] A.V. Kotikov, Differential equation method: The Calculation of N point Feynman diagrams, Phys. Lett. B 267 (1991) 123 [INSPIRE].
- [121] E. Remiddi, Differential equations for Feynman graph amplitudes, Nuovo Cim. A 110 (1997) 1435 [hep-th/9711188] [INSPIRE].
- [122] M. Beneke and V.A. Smirnov, Asymptotic expansion of Feynman integrals near threshold, Nucl. Phys. B 522 (1998) 321 [hep-ph/9711391] [INSPIRE].
- [123] A.B. Goncharov, Multiple polylogarithms and mixed Tate motives, math/0103059 [INSPIRE].
- [124] B. Jantzen, A.V. Smirnov and V.A. Smirnov, Expansion by regions: revealing potential and Glauber regions automatically, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 2139 [arXiv:1206.0546] [INSPIRE].

- [125] A.V. Smirnov, FIESTA4: Optimized Feynman integral calculations with GPU support, Comput. Phys. Commun. 204 (2016) 189 [arXiv:1511.03614] [INSPIRE].
- [126] R.N. Lee, Presenting LiteRed: a tool for the Loop InTEgrals REDuction, arXiv:1212.2685 [INSPIRE].
- [127] V.A. Smirnov, Analytic tools for Feynman integrals, Springer Tracts in Modern Physics 250, Springer Berlin (2012) [DOI] [INSPIRE].
- [128] J.M. Henn, Multiloop integrals in dimensional regularization made simple, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 251601 [arXiv:1304.1806] [INSPIRE].
- [129] R.N. Lee, Reducing differential equations for multiloop master integrals, JHEP 04 (2015) 108
 [arXiv:1411.0911] [INSPIRE].
- [130] C. Meyer, Evaluating multi-loop Feynman integrals using differential equations: automatizing the transformation to a canonical basis, PoS LL2016 (2016) 028 [INSPIRE].
- [131] C. Meyer, Transforming differential equations of multi-loop Feynman integrals into canonical form, JHEP 04 (2017) 006 [arXiv:1611.01087] [INSPIRE].
- [132] M. Prausa, epsilon: A tool to find a canonical basis of master integrals, Comput. Phys. Commun. 219 (2017) 361 [arXiv:1701.00725] [INSPIRE].
- [133] L. Adams and S. Weinzierl, The ε -form of the differential equations for Feynman integrals in the elliptic case, Phys. Lett. B **781** (2018) 270 [arXiv:1802.05020] [INSPIRE].
- [134] J. Broedel, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, R. Marzucca, B. Penante and L. Tancredi, An analytic solution for the equal-mass banana graph, JHEP 09 (2019) 112 [arXiv:1907.03787] [INSPIRE].
- [135] A. Primo and L. Tancredi, Maximal cuts and differential equations for Feynman integrals. An application to the three-loop massive banana graph, Nucl. Phys. B 921 (2017) 316 [arXiv:1704.05465] [INSPIRE].
- [136] A.V. Smirnov and F.S. Chuharev, FIRE6: Feynman Integral REduction with Modular Arithmetic, Comput. Phys. Commun. 247 (2020) 106877 [arXiv:1901.07808] [INSPIRE].
- [137] A.V. Smirnov and V.A. Smirnov, How to choose master integrals, Nucl. Phys. B 960 (2020) 115213 [arXiv:2002.08042] [INSPIRE].
- [138] R.N. Lee, Libra: A package for transformation of differential systems for multiloop integrals, Comput. Phys. Commun. 267 (2021) 108058 [arXiv:2012.00279] [INSPIRE].
- [139] M. Hidding, DiffExp, a Mathematica package for computing Feynman integrals in terms of one-dimensional series expansions, Comput. Phys. Commun. 269 (2021) 108125 [arXiv:2006.05510] [INSPIRE].
- [140] C. Duhr, Mathematical aspects of scattering amplitudes, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: Journeys Through the Precision Frontier: Amplitudes for Colliders, World Scientific (20015), pp. 419–476 [DOI] [arXiv:1411.7538] [INSPIRE].
- [141] C. Duhr and F. Dulat, PolyLogTools polylogs for the masses, JHEP 08 (2019) 135 [arXiv:1904.07279] [INSPIRE].
- [142] C. Dlapa, J. Henn and K. Yan, Deriving canonical differential equations for Feynman integrals from a single uniform weight integral, JHEP 05 (2020) 025 [arXiv:2002.02340]
 [INSPIRE].

- [143] A.V. Smirnov, N.D. Shapurov and L.I. Vysotsky, FIESTA5: Numerical high-performance Feynman integral evaluation, Comput. Phys. Commun. 277 (2022) 108386 [arXiv:2110.11660] [INSPIRE].
- [144] R.N. Lee, A.V. Smirnov, V.A. Smirnov and M. Steinhauser, Four-loop quark form factor with quartic fundamental colour factor, JHEP 02 (2019) 172 [arXiv:1901.02898] [INSPIRE].
- [145] R.N. Lee, LiteRed 1.4: a powerful tool for reduction of multiloop integrals, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 523 (2014) 012059 [arXiv:1310.1145] [INSPIRE].
- [146] J.S. Schwinger, Brownian motion of a quantum oscillator, J. Math. Phys. 2 (1961) 407 [INSPIRE].
- [147] L.V. Keldysh, Diagram technique for nonequilibrium processes, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 47 (1964) 1515 [INSPIRE].
- [148] E. Calzetta and B.L. Hu, Closed Time Path Functional Formalism in Curved Space-Time: Application to Cosmological Back Reaction Problems, Phys. Rev. D 35 (1987) 495 [INSPIRE].
- [149] E. Calzetta and B.L. Hu, Nonequilibrium Quantum Fields: Closed Time Path Effective Action, Wigner Function and Boltzmann Equation, Phys. Rev. D 37 (1988) 2878 [INSPIRE].
- [150] R.D. Jordan, Effective Field Equations for Expectation Values, Phys. Rev. D 33 (1986) 444
 [INSPIRE].
- [151] M.V.S. Saketh, J. Vines, J. Steinhoff and A. Buonanno, Conservative and radiative dynamics in classical relativistic scattering and bound systems, Phys. Rev. Res. 4 (2022) 013127 [arXiv:2109.05994] [INSPIRE].
- [152] Z. Bern, J.P. Gatica, E. Herrmann, A. Luna and M. Zeng, Scalar QED as a toy model for higher-order effects in classical gravitational scattering, JHEP 08 (2022) 131
 [arXiv:2112.12243] [INSPIRE].
- [153] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu, J. Neef and R.A. Porto, Radiation Reaction and Gravitational Waves at Fourth Post-Minkowskian Order, arXiv:2210.05541 [INSPIRE].
- [154] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, *Bootstrapping the relativistic two-body problem*, to appear.
- [155] C. Anastasiou and A. Lazopoulos, Automatic integral reduction for higher order perturbative calculations, JHEP 07 (2004) 046 [hep-ph/0404258] [INSPIRE].
- [156] R.E. Cutkosky, Singularities and discontinuities of Feynman amplitudes, J. Math. Phys. 1 (1960) 429 [INSPIRE].
- [157] D. Bini, T. Damour and A. Geralico, Radiated momentum and radiation reaction in gravitational two-body scattering including time-asymmetric effects, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 024012 [arXiv:2210.07165] [INSPIRE].
- [158] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and B. Sauer, All things retarded: radiation-reaction in worldline quantum field theory, JHEP 10 (2022) 128 [arXiv:2207.00569] [INSPIRE].